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INTRODUCTION

Competition from generic drugs saves consumers hundreds of billions of
dollars each year. To encourage generic competition, Congress established a
mechanism that enables generic drug manufacturers to challenge patents associated
with brand-name drugs. In some cases, parties have settled the resulting patent
dispute with an agreement in which the brand-name drug manufacturer pays the
generic drug maker to drop its patent challenge and stay off the market. In FTC v.
Actavis, Inc., the Supreme Court held that such “reverse payment” agreements
create a “risk of significant anticompetitive effects” and must be analyzed under
the antitrust rule of reason. 133 S. Ct. 2223, 2237-38 (2013). The Court explained
that “the relevant anticompetitive harm” from this type of agreement is that it
“prevents the risk of competition.” Id. at 2236.

In this case, the district court concluded that the jury had found that the
challenged reverse payment agreement was “unreasonably anticompetitive under a
rule of reason standard.” In re Nexium (Esomeprazole) Antitrust Litig., 309 F.R.D.
107, 125 (D. Mass. 2015). But the court nonetheless held that plaintiffs had failed
to establish an antitrust violation. It did so because the jury “was not persuaded”
that the parties would have agreed to an earlier entry date but for the reverse

payment. Id. at 142; see also id. at 125 (describing the special verdict).
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Payor Class Plaintiffs-Appellants, In re: Nexium (Esomeprazole) Antitrust Litig.,
Nos. 15-2005 et al., at 72-75, 118-22 (1st Cir. Feb. 5, 2016).2
This distinction is especially important in the context of reverse-payment

agreements, which



The FTC offers no views regarding the underlying facts of the case or the
ultimate merits of the plaintiffs’ appeal. Nonetheless, as an antitrust enforcement
agency responsible for protecting the public interest, the FTC wishes to ensure that
courts properly analyze antitrust violations. The district court’s erroneous analysis

threatens to impede federal antitrust law enforcement efforts by, in effect, I09hS109hSIr0.504-4(
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Of particular relevance here, the Commission has issued a variety of empirical
studies addressing the competitive dynamics of generic substitution for brand-
name drugs,”* and has used its law enforcement authority to challenge patent
settlements of the type at issue here.” Pursuant to Fed. R. App. P. 29(a), the
Commission respectfully submits this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A.  Generic Drugs

Before marketing a new drug, a pharmaceutical manufacturer must file a
“new drug application” (“NDA”) with the Food and Drug Administration and
obtain FDA approval. 21 U.S.C. § 355(b). A drug approved under the NDA
process is often called a “brand-name” drug.

Prior to 1984, a generic drug manufacturer had to undertake the same NDA
process as a brand-name drugmaker. That requirement deterred generic entry

because the NDA process is costly and can take many years to complete. To

* See Fed. Trade Comm’n, Authorized Generic Drugs: Short-Term Effects and
Long-Term Impact (2011) (“AG Report”),
http://www.ftc.gov/0s/2011/08/2011genericdrugreport.pdf; Fed. Trade Comm’n,
Pay-for-Delay: How Drug Company Pay-Offs Cost Consumers Billions (2010),
https://www.ftc.gov/sites/default/files/documents/reports/pay-delay-how-drug-
company-pay-offs-cost-consumers-billions-federal-trade-commission-staff-
study/100112payfordelayrpt.pdf.

> See, e.g., Actavis, 133 S. Ct. 2223; Schering-Plough Corp. v. FTC, 402 F.3d 1056
(11th Cir. 2005) (overruled in relevant part in Actavis); Plaintiff Federal Trade
Commission’s First Amended Complaint for Injunctive Relief, FTC v. Cephalon,
Inc., No. 2:08-cv-2141, ECF No. 40 (E.D. Pa. filed Aug. 12, 2009).

_5-
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infringement. Such a suit triggers an automatic stay of FDA approval of the
ANDA for 30 months. 21 U.S.C. § 355(j)(5)(B)(iii). Correspondingly, the Hatch-
Waxman Amendments encourage patent challenges by providing the first-filer of
an ANDA containing a paragraph-1V certification with a 180-day exclusivity
period that protects the first-filer from competition from other ANDA filers. See
21 U.S.C. 8§ 355())(5)(B)(iv). The “vast majority of potential profits for a generic
drug manufacturer materialize during the 180-day exclusivity period.” Actavis,
133 S. Ct. at 2229 (internal quotation marks omitted).

B.  Proceedings Below

AstraZeneca is the brand-name manufacturer of the blockbuster heartburn
drug Nexium. Ranbaxy and others filed ANDAs, along with paragraph-1V
certifications, to introduce generic competition to Nexium. To protect its Nexium
franchise, AstraZeneca allegedly made reverse payments to three generic
manufacturers, including first-filer Ranbaxy, to induce them to abandon their
patent challenges and stay out of the market until May 2014.

After a six-week trial, the jury returned a special verdict, which the district
court found represented a finding that the challenged settlement with Ranbaxy was
“unreasonably anticompetitive”:

By checking “yes” to Questions 1, 2, and 3, the jury indicated that

they were convinced that the AstraZeneca-Ranbaxy Settlement

Agreement was unreasonably anticompetitive under a rule of reason
standard. But by checking “no” at Question 4, the jury indicated they

_7-



could not conclude that Ranbaxy would have agreed to an earlier
launch date but for their reverse payment settlement agreement.

Nexium, 309 F.R.D. at 125.

The plaintiffs then filed separate motions for an injunction and a new trial.
In July 2015, the district court denied both motions. Id. at 142-43. The court
recognized that the jury had found that the challenged agreement was
“unreasonably anticompetitive” under the “rule of reason.” Id. at 125. But it
nonetheless determined that the plaintiffs had failed to show “the prerequisite
antitrust violation” required to obtain an injunction because they had not proved a
“causal link between this suspicious agreement and the overcharge harms the
Plaintiffs allege.” Id. at 141-42. In the court’s words, “[t]here may have been
intent to violate the antitrust laws, and certainly anticompetitive ‘effect’ from the
AstraZeneca-Ranbaxy Settlement Agreement, but the jury could not establish that
this materially caused the overcharges the Plaintiffs allegedly had suffered as
consumers of Nexium.” Id. at 125 (emphasis added). This showing, the district
court held, was a necessary part of proving an antitrust violation. Id. at 142.

ARGUMENT

l. IN AN ANTITRUST CASE,



Richfield Co., 495 U.S. at 344 (quoting Phillip E. Areeda & Herbert Hovenkamp,
Antitrust Law { 334.2c, at 330 (1989 Supp.)). A burden common to all antitrust
plaintiffs, public and private, is to establish that the antitrust laws—whether under
the Sherman Act or, in the case of the FTC, the FTC Act—have been violated.” To
do so, the plaintiff must demonstrate that the challenged restraint tends to suppress,
rather than promote, competition. Generally, this requires the plaintiff to establish
In the context of a rule-of-reason case that the conduct has an “anticompetitive
effect,” also known as harm to competition.® See Actavis, 133 S. Ct. at 2237.

A government plaintiff that demonstrates an antitrust violation is generally
entitled to appropriate relief, whereas a private plaintiff must make an additional
showing that it suffered an injury-in-fact (actual or threatened) caused by the
anticompetitive conduct in order to prevail. See Cal. v. Am. Stores Co., 495 U.S.
271, 295-96 (1990) (contrasting the Government’s entitlement to relief upon

proving an antitrust violation with the requirement that private plaintiffs show



e.g., 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(2). In contrast, private plaintiffs derive their authority to
bring suit from Section 4 or 16 of the Clayton Act, and must satisfy the additional
burdens imposed by those provisions. See 15 U.S.C. 88 15, 26. This distinction is
rooted in public policy. The interest of private plaintiffs is to remediate an injury
they have suffered or may suffer. The interest of the government is to “prevent
and restrain” violations of the antitrust laws along with the attendant social costs
such violations can cause. See 2 Phillip E. Areeda & Herbert Hovenkamp,

ARTIITI65IV7(r)12.21.8( )]21.8(f)3.6()12.2(s )]TJ 0.001 Tc -0.0(S)0TJ 0.1w 2.t5s

-10-



of Concord, Mass. v. Boston Edison Co., 915 F.2d 17, 21-22 (1st Cir. 1990)
(Breyer, J.) (holding that an agreement has anticompetitive effects when it
“obstructs the achievement of competition’s basic goals—Ilower prices, better
products, and more efficient production methods™).

Thus, the Supreme Court has condemned restraints because they “impede[d]

the ordinary give and take of the marketplace,” Nat

-11-
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477, 486, 489 (1977) (explaining injury requirement and noting that antitrust laws
include “statutory prohibition[s] against acts that have a potential to cause certain
harms” and statutory authority for “damages action[s] intended to remedy these
harms”); RSA Media, Inc., 260 F.3d at 14. To satisfy these requirements, private
plaintiffs seeking monetary relief must show actual damages, while those seeking
only an injunction must show “threatened loss or damage.” Cargill, Inc. v.

Monfort of Colo

-13-



anticompetitive effects necessary to establish the underlying antitrust violation.°
Indeed, if it were otherwise, the injury-in-fact inquiry would itself be largely
redundant: Establishing an actual price increase would simultaneously show an
anticompetitive effect and an overcharge injury.

In holding that injury-in-fact was a necessary element of the underlying
violation, the district court relied primarily on an erroneous interpretation of
Sullivan v. National Football League. See Nexium, 309 F.R.D. at 140-41.** This
Court’s analysis in Sullivan, however, actually illustrates the distinction between
antitrust violations and injury-in-fact. Sullivan concerned an antitrust challenge to
an NFL rule barring public ownership of football teams. The former owner of the

New England Patriots claimed that this restriction on ownership eligibility violated

1% Atlantic Richfield, 495 U.S. at 344 (“proof of a[n antitrust] violation and of
antitrust injury are distinct matters that must be shown independently”) (quoting
Phillip E. Areeda & Herbert Hovenkamp, Antitrust Law § 334.2c, at 330 (1989
Supp.)); see Volmar Distribs., Inc. v. N.Y. Post Co., 825 F. Supp. 1153, 1161 n.5
(S.D.N.Y. 1993) (Atlantic Richfield is “clear ... that the antitrust injury
requirement exists separate and apart from the substantive requirements of the
Sherman Act.”).

' The other cases cited by the district court are similarly consistent with the well-
established distinction between violation and injury. See Zenith Radio Corp. v.
Hazeltine Research, Inc., 395 U.S. 100, 130 (1969) (court of appeals holding that
“failure to prove the fact of injury barred injunctive relief” was “unsound”); Out
Front Prods., Inc. v. Magid

-14-



the Sherman Act because it prevented him from selling his team to the highest
bidder.

This Court began by analyzing whether this type of restraint was
anticompetitive. Sullivan, 34 F.3d at 1096-97. It noted that anticompetitive effects
are “usually measured by a reduction in output and an increase in prices in the
relevant market.” 1d. at 1097. But it explained that “an action [also] harms the
competitive process ‘when it obstructs the achievement of competition’s basic
goals—Ilower prices, better products, and more efficient production methods.”” Id.
(quoting Town of Concord, 915 F.2d at 22). Despite no evidence of higher prices
and thin evidence of any competition for the sale of NFL teams, the Court

nevertheless concluded that the NFL rule harmed competition

-15-



finding a violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, but awarding no monetary or
injunctive relief, and concluding that on appeal the court must “deal first with the
merits of the jury’s finding of antitrust liability” before deciding whether an
Injunction was appropriate). Consistent with long-established Supreme Court
precedent, this Court’s Sullivan opinion treated antitrust violation and injury-in-
fact as distinct analyses.

Il.  UNDER ACTAVIS, THE ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECT OF A REVERSE PAYMENT
IS THAT IT PREVENTS THE RISK OF COMPETITION

The distinction between anticompetitive effect and injury-in-fact is
particularly important in the context of a reverse-payment agreement. Under
Actavis, the “relevant anticompetitive harm” from a large and unjustified reverse
payment is that it “prevent[s] the risk of competition.” 133 S. Ct. at 2236

(emphasis added); see also King Drug Co. of Florence, 791 F.3d at 404, 412; In re

12" Other courts have likewise recognized antitrust violations despite plaintiffs’
inability to show injury. For example, in a series of decisions, the Seventh Circuit
affirmed a jury’s antitrust liability verdict and the district court’s resulting
injunction, Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wis. v. Marshfield Clinic, 65 F.3d
1406 (7th Cir. 1995), while rejecting plaintiffs’ damages claims, Blue Cross &
Blue Shield United of Wis.
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Niaspan Antitrust Litig., 42 F. Supp. 3d 735, 755 (E.D. Pa. 2014). By holding that
the plaintiffs could not establish an antitrust violation without showing that the
reverse payment caused an actual overcharge, the district court misconstrued both
the established antitrust principles described above and the teaching of Actavis
itself.

In Actavis, the Supreme Court explained that a large reverse payment can
“induce the generic challenger to abandon its claim with a share of [the] monopoly
profits that would otherwise be lost in the competitive market.” 133 S. Ct. at 2235;

see also id. at 2236
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End-Payor Class Plaintiffs-Appellants at 118-19 (quotation mark omitted), 121.
But the Actavis opinion never uses the word “delay” to describe the
anticompetitive harm of a reverse payment. To the contrary, it makes clear that a
reverse payment can violate the antitrust laws if it induces the generic to abandon
its patent challenge and stay out of the market regardless of whether the generic
would actually have otherwise entered the market sooner than permitted by the
agreement. 1d. at 2235; see also id. at 2231 (noting that the patent “may or may
not be valid, and may or may not be infringed”); id. at 2234 (“The payment in
effect amounts to a purchase by the patentee of the exclusive right to sell its
product, a right it already claims but would lose if the patent litigation were to
continue and the patent were held invalid or not infringed by the generic
product.”).

Indeed, the Court recognized that paying a generic competitor to drop its
patent challenge is anticompetitive even if that challenge were likely to fail:

The owner of a particularly valuable patent might contend, of course,

that even a small risk of invalidity justifies a large payment. But, be

that as it may, the payment (if otherwise unexplained) likely seeks to

prevent the risk of competition. And, as we have said, that
consequence constitutes the relevant anticompetitive harm.

Id. at 2236. The anticompetitive effect of an unlawful reverse payment therefore
occurs at the moment the agreement is entered. The antitrust violation is distinct

from the actual injury—such as an overcharge to a specific plaintiff—it may
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subsequently cause. Valley Drug Co. v. Geneva Pharms., Inc., 344 F.3d 1294,
1306 (11th Cir. 2003); see also Polk Bros., Inc. v. Forest City Enters., 776 F.2d
185, 189 (7th Cir. 1985) (“A court must ask whether an agreement promoted
enterprise and productivity at the time it was adopted.”); Microbix Biosystems, 172
F. Supp. 2d at 694 (“[A]nti-competitive conduct is determined as of the time the
conduct occurred, not thereafter.”).

As the California Supreme Court further observed in a reverse-payment case
brought under state law, “[e]very case involves a comparison of a challenged
agreement against a prediction about—a probabilistic assessment of—the expected
competition that would have arisen in its absence. Every restraint of trade
condemned for suppressing entry involves uncertainties about the extent to which
competition would have come to pass.” In re Cipro Cases | & Il, 61 Cal. 4th 116,
150 (2015) (applying parallel state-law provision). But “the law does not condone

the purchase of protection from uncertain competition any more than it condones
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Accordingly, lower courts applying Actavis have understood that they do not
need to determine what would have happened in the absence of a reverse payment
to establish that it violates the antitrust laws. The Third Circuit held that Actavis
does not “require allegations that defendants could in fact have reached another,
more competitive settlement” because “the anticompetitive harm is not certain
consumer loss through higher prices, but rather the patentee’s avoidance of the risk
of competition.” King Drug Co. of Florence, 791 F.3d at 410. Similarly, another

court observed that “[t]he anticompetitive harm is not that the patent surely would

-20-



that showing an injury-in-fact is necessary to prove an antitrust violation. This
error is not merely academic; it has significant implications for government
antitrust enforcement. Because the FTC, along with the Department of Justice,
enforces the substantive antitrust laws directly, it need not show a specific injury as
a private plaintiff would. See California v. Am. Stores Co., 495 U.S. at 295-96 (“In
a Government case the proof of the violation of law may itself establish sufficient
public injury to warrant relief.”); 2 Areeda & Hovenkamp, Antitrust Law { 303, at
61. It can “sue anyone who violates the antitrust laws” and obtain an injunction to
block an anticompetitive agreement or conduct. Zoellner v. St. Luke’s Reg’l Med.
Ctr., Ltd., 937 F. Supp. 2d 1261, 1266 (D. 1d. 2013) (citing Glen Holly Entm’t Inc.
v. Tektronix Inc., 352 F.3d 367, 371 (9th Cir. 2003)).

The distinction between public and private suits is intentional, reflecting the

strong public law enforcement interest in allowing the government to redress
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Moreover, the court’s reliance on 15 U.S.C. § 45(n) incorrectly suggests that
the FTC bears the burden of showing in an antitrust case that “a defendant’s action
Is likely to cause injury.” Nexium, 309 F.R.D. at 141 (quoting lan Simmons,
Kenneth R. O’Rourke & Scott Schaeffer, Viewing FTC v. Actavis Through the
Lens of Clayton Act Section 4, Antitrust, Vol. 28, No. 1 (2013)). But, as discussed
above, the FTC bears no burden to show an injury-in-fact (either actual or likely)
from anticompetitive conduct.

CONCLUSION
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